
 
 

SCRUTINY : REGENERATION AND 
PUBLIC PROTECTION MEETING 

 
2.30 pm TUESDAY, 17TH MARCH, 2020 

 

CONFERENCE ROOM 1 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 2.00 pm.   
This Meeting is for Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s Meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department. 

 
The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 

the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.   

 

 
 

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

3. WAO Report: Delivering with Less, Environmental 
Health Services Follow up - Review and Draft 
Response Action Plan  

 

 To consider report of the Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive 
 

3 - 12 

4. Work Programme 2019/20   

 To consider the attached report 
 

13 - 24 

5. Any Other Business deemed urgent by the Chair   

  
COMPOSITION: Councillors:  G Lewis (Chair) 

                     K Gibbs (Vice-Chair) 
  
 Councillors: M Colbran, L Davies and S Thomas 

 
Co-optee(s): H Hopkins, H Jackson, H Powell and 
M Ellis 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SPECIAL SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

WAO Report: Delivering with Less - Environmental Health 
Services – Follow –up Review and Response Action Plan  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to make the audit committee aware of the contents of the 
Wales Audit Office (WAO) report issued in December 2018 titled “Delivering with 
Less- Environmental Health Services – Follow –up Review- Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council.”  The report looks at the impact of cuts in resources and 
the ability of the environmental health service to deliver its statutory functions. The 
report is a follow up to a comprehensive study of all 22 Local Authorities (LA’s) that 
was undertaken in 2014.   

1.2 The overall findings of the follow up review are that environmental health resources 
have reduced and the Council cannot demonstrate that it is delivering all its statutory 
environmental health services. 

1.3 The report makes 2 recommendations for improvement: 
 

 (a) The Council needs to assure itself that it can deliver its statutory 
environmental health services 

 (b) The Council needs to put a better mechanism in place to review the 
delivery of its environmental health services 

           

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the issues set out in the  
           report. 

2.2 That the scrutiny committee identifies any further information they would like to  
           receive. 
 
 

Date Written 6th March 2020 

Report Author Alyn Owen/Susan Gow  

Service Area Environmental Health 

Committee Date 17th March 2020 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In 2014 the WAO undertook a study “Delivering with less- the impact on 

environmental health services and citizens.” The study considered the impact of 
cuts in resources on the ability of Council environmental services to deliver their 
statutory obligations. As a part of that study the WAO reviewed a wide range of 
documents and media and undertook field work in all 22 local authorities.  This 
included an assessment against the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health 
Wales Best Practice Standards, detailed analysis of revenue expenditure and staff 
data.  In addition the WAO undertook a survey of all Council environmental health staff 
and all elected members and made available and promoted an on line public survey. 

3.2 In September 2018 the WAO undertook a second review designed to follow up on 
themes and learning identified in the 2014 report. As part of the review two auditors 
from the WAO interviewed a selection of officers namely Steve Peters (Head of Public 
Protection and Housing), Susan Gow (Environmental Health Manager), Steve Jones 
(Head of Finance) Geraint Thomas (Portfolio Member) and were provided with 
financial reports, staffing structures and performance information. No review against 
the Practice Standards was undertaken. 

3.3 A draft report outlining the WAO’s findings was issued to the Council in October 2018.  
The report contained a number of factual inaccuracies and comments relating to 
functions that were not within the remit of the Council’s environmental health service. 
The Council responded to the WAO highlighting the inaccuracies and supplementary 
information provided was to contextualise some of the comments made in the report.  
It is understood that the Council’s Chief Executive at the time met with the WAO but 
we have no information about the discussion or the outcome. 

3.4 In December 2018, the Wales Audit office published “Delivering with Less- 
Environmental Health Services – Follow –up Review- Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council”.  The audit report was sent to the Council’s Chief Executive on the 
24th December 2018; however, this was not circulated wider until 5 months later due 
to the absence from work of the Chief Executive.  Measures will need to be 
implemented to prevent a similar occurrence in future.   

3.5 The final report notes that the Council has numerous statutory environmental health 
duties and that these services directly impact on the health, wellbeing and safety of 
residents and visitors. 

3.6 The overall findings of the review are that Environmental Health resources have 
reduced and the Council cannot demonstrate that it is delivering all its statutory 
environmental health services. 

3.7 Staffing numbers have reduced by 5.5 whole fulltime equivalent officers since 2014. It 
notes that the Council is dependent upon the knowledge and experience of a small 
number of staff.  

3.8 As part of the Council’s efficiency programme, the report states that the environmental 
health services budget has decreased significantly since 2013-14.  It also notes that in 
real terms this is compounded if inflation is taken into account. 

3.9 Despite the decreases in budget there has been a consistent underspend which they 
conclude is as a result of having to find efficiencies to help balance the Council’s 
budget. 

 

Page 4



3.10 The reduction in staffing and finance need to be considered against a background of 
increasing statutory duties. In 2014 the WAO expressed concern that the Council 
would find it increasingly difficult to take on new statutory duties and that concern 
remains. 

3.11 Two proposals for improvement are made:  

 The Council needs to assure itself that it can deliver its statutory 
environmental health services.  

 The Council needs to put a better mechanism in place to review the delivery 
of its environmental health services.   

3.12 A request has been made by the Chair of the Council’s Audit Committee that the 
report be brought before scrutiny. 

 
 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 In 2014 as part of the WAO the environmental health service was assessed against 

the professions Chartered Institute of Environmental Health Wales Best Practice 
Standards. 

4.2 The Standards are intended to be a tool for use by local authority environmental 
health departments to assist in designing, developing, resourcing, assessing and 
reviewing their service across a broad range of functional /specialist areas.  At that 
time there were 3 levels of performance identified minimum, good and best practice in 
the following areas: 

 

 Communicable Disease Control  Food Safety Control 

 Recruitment Training and Development  Health & Safety 

 Port Health  Pest Control 

 Dig Control  Pollution Control 

 Community Safety  Licensing 

 Private Housing  Health Improvement 

4.3 Having assessed those service delivered by the Councils environmental health service 
against the standards, analysed staffing and finance data and sought views from staff, 
members and the public the WAO concluded: 

        “the Council is delivering environmental health services at above minimum levels and 
whilst it has increased expenditure and marginally reduced staff numbers, 
stakeholders have a mixed view of the management and performance of the service. 
The Council will find it difficult to take on new statutory duties that protect the public 
and the environment”  

            

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 One of the criticisms in the follow up WAO report is that the service does not routinely 

assess its performance against either its environmental health statutory obligations or 
the Practice Standards, and there is limited member oversight of the services 
performance.  Page 5



 
5.2 Some areas of environmental health service delivery are subject to rigorous scrutiny 

by external bodies and require the submission of annual statutory returns e.g. LAEMS 
data to the Food Standards Agency, health and safety performance data to the Health 
and Safety Executive (LAE 1). If the service is not meeting its statutory obligations 
there would be intervention by these bodies. Similarly, the service is required to 
submit an annual air quality report that is scrutinised by Welsh Government (WG). In 2 
service areas performance is also measured via Public Accountability Measures 
submitted to WG namely empty properties brought back into use and the number of 
food businesses broadly compliant for food hygiene which is noted in the report.  

 
5.3 It should also be noted that the food hygiene and food standards service are subject 

to external scrutiny by the Food Standards Agency and the service  received a full five 
day audit in May 2016 the final report being published in February 2019, The report is 
positive about the service provided highlighting 7 strengths and 1 area for 
improvement. 

   
5.4 It is recognised that whilst the demands on the service have increased the resources 

available to meet those demands has gradually decreased. A timeline showing the 
reduction in staff between 2010/11 and 2019/20 is contained as a background paper. 

 

5.5 In addition to the decrease in the number of full-time equivalent officers (ftes); the 
service has also suffered significantly from the ability to recruit suitably qualified staff 
to cover maternity leave and to replace long serving members of staff who have left to 
go to alternative employment or have retired.  

 

5.6 In relation to austerity, the corporate message has been for a while that we can no 
longer afford to run platinum services. This has necessitated the reduction in the level 
of service provision in a number of areas.  These reductions include the Council no 
longer having a dog warden service, the level of health and safety enforcement in 
businesses is predominantly reactive with little proactive work being undertaken, the 
number of food samples taken for analysis has fallen significantly, advice for new 
business start-up is limited, pest control charges have been introduced which has had 
a knock on effect on the rodent population increasing pressure on other statutory 
elements of the service. In addition, the time taken to respond to complaints has 
increased, the levels of customer dissatisfaction has increased. The risks associated 
with reductions in capacity have been highlighted through the corporate risk 
assessment process and are now being realised.  

 
5.7 Having specific regard to the Practice Standards, Wales Heads of Environmental 

Health agreed that the next iteration of the Standards should follow a fundamental 
review.  Significantly, it was agreed that the Standards should be developed at two 
levels in place of the existing three.  Reasons for this included the need to reflect the 
current climate of austerity.  It was felt that 3 levels might give the perception of gold-
plating services when the highest level is attained.  In more recent years it had 
become apparent that in many areas of the Standards having 3 levels added little 
value and two would suffice.  Previously the Standards, at 3 levels, were referred to as 
Good”, “better” and “best”.  The new Standards have two levels – “required” and 
“better” and have become known as “Practice Standards” dropping the word “best”.  

 

5.8 The review of the Standards was also intended to take account of some of the 
recommendations of the Wales Audit Office included in its report “Delivering with 

Page 6



less – the impact on environmental health services”; these included seeking to 
“align the work of Environmental Health with national strategic priorities”. 

 

5.9 The all Wales 2014 WAO study set out to make a judgement against the then 
Chartered Institute of Environmental Health Wales Best Practice Standards. We 
therefore completed the exercise. That was not part of the brief for the follow up study.  

 

5.10 In terms of comparing the level of service provision against the current Practice 
Standards it is acknowledged that we do not formally compare the service against the 
standards and record and report the findings at set intervals- there is no opportunity 
within the current corporate performance framework to include this data. However, 
having made a significant contribution to the review and re- writing of the standards, 
the Environmental Health Manager is aware of their content and how the service is 
performing against those standards.  

 
5.11 Since the WAO visit the health and safety service was self-assessed in August 2018 

against the Practice Standard as part of an All Wales Welsh Heads of Environmental 
Health exercise with all of the elements of the service given a RAG status against the 
required standard. Some areas of non and partial compliance with the required 
standard were identified. 

 

5.12 A DRAFT Action Plan has been developed as a framework to respond to the 
recommendations made by WAO; this appears following this report as Appendix ** 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 The service is staffed by competent staff and has sufficient resources to address 

identified need and providing consistent advice and guidance to citizens.  The role 
Environmental Health services play across the County Borough is positively promoted 

 
6.2 The service holds comprehensive performance data that is used to identify key 

priorities for improvement/development. Performance data is analysed to establish the 
impact of services delivered and the findings are shared widely with officers, Elected 
Members and communities, as well as with regulatory bodies and key funders. 

 

6.3 The service complies with / meets all statutory and regulatory requirements within the 
required timescales/reporting periods and, using this information, undertake rigorous 
self-evaluation to determine the priorities for improvement identified are built into a 
Business Improvement Plan which will be monitored to ensure progress is achieved. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Review of the current risks recorded on the corporate risk register to establish which 

of these risks have been realised as issues.  In the cases where this has happened; 
an action plan should be developed to actively address the issues identified. 

 

7.2 Ensure the Action Plan be regularly updated with progress and available for review 
corporately, and included in future reports to Scrutiny where required. 

 
 
 
 

Page 7



8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1 The services delivered by the Environmental Health team substantially contribute to 
two of the Council’s four wellbeing objectives:  Working Life and Environmental 
Wellbeing.  However, the services also support the corporate objectives Best Start to 
Life and Living Well through the public protection activities it undertakes. 

 

 
Alyn Owen Chief Officer Regeneration 
and Public Protection  

Geraint Thomas cabinet member for 
Regeneration and Public Protection  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Delivering with Less- 
Environmental Health 
Services – Follow –up 
Review- Merthyr Tydfil 

County Borough 
Council. 

 
Delivering with less – 

the impact on 
Environmental Health 
Services and citizens 
Merthyr Tydfil County 

Borough Council 
 

Spreadsheet showing 
staffing reductions for 
environmental health 

service between 
2010/11 and 2019/20 

 
An Introduction to  

Practice Standards for 
Environmental Health in 

Wales 

December 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 

February 2020 
 
 
 
 
 

December 2017 

 
Report can be accessed here 

 
 
 
 
 

Merthyr Tydfil EH 
local summary.docx

 
 
 
 
 

delivering_with_less_
environmental_health_report_2014_english.pdf

 
 

Introduction to 
Practice Standards.docx

 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 8

https://www.audit.wales/search/node/merthyr%20tydfil%20delivering%20with%20less


WAO REPORT - DELIVERING WITH LESS – ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH SERVICES (Merthyr Tydfil) 

Response Action Plan 

 

 

 

 

The Action Plan below responds directly to the recommendations laid down in the Plan.  It will also provide evidence to demonstrate how the Council will improve its response to 

WAO Recommendation  Response Action/Step 
(What needs to be done?) 

Deadline 
(When does it 
need to be done 
by?) 

Responsible and 
Accountable Person(s) 
(who will lead on 
progressing the action 
and who will contribute) 

Necessary Resources  
(What do you need in order to 
complete this action/step?) 

Potential Challenges 
(what could impede 
completion?  How will you 
overcome this) 

Evidence 

R1 Revise the best practice standards to:  
(a) align the work of environmental health with national 

strategic priorities;   
(b) identify the wider contribution of environmental health 

in delivering strategic priorities of the Welsh 
Government; and  

(c) identify the benefit and impact of environmental health 
services on protecting citizen 

 

(a) Work with the Wales 
Heads of Environmental 
Health Services to align 
work with the national 
priorities 

(b) Work with the Chief 
Officer and 
Environmental Health 
team to assess local 
Environmental Health 
services delivered against 
the Practice Standards 

(c) Take a full part in the 
Corporate Self-Evaluation 
process to identify 
current position, any 
good practice, the impact 
of services delivered and 
areas for development 
and priorities for 
improvement 

2015/16- 
completed 
 
 
 
December 2019-
completed (repeat 
process annually). 
 
 
 
 
Annually – 
completion 
required by March 
each year 

 Environmental Health 
Manager 

 Wales Heads of 
Environmental Health 
Services 

 Corporate Chief 
Officer 

 Environmental Health 
team 

 Performance & 
Scrutiny Team 

 Head of Corporate 
Services 

 Elected Members 

 Officer time (local) 

 District Officer time (regional 
critical friend) 

Lack of capacity when 
balancing this against all 
service demands 
To tackle this: 
Actions will be undertaken 
using a phased approach (in 
‘bite-sized chunks’) to ensure 
progress is made with limited 
impact on the other demands 
of officers’ time 

Report delivered to Audit 
Committee 19/12/2019 
 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our 
communities 
 

Corporate self-evaluation 
(whole process) 
 
Infographs 

R2   Provide scrutiny chairs and members with the necessary 
skills and support to effectively scrutinise and challenge 
service performance, savings plans and the impact of 
budget reductions. 
 

(a) Provide ongoing training 
to all Committee 
Members  

(b) Further develop the 
Guide for Scrutiny 
Members to provide 
reminders/prompts to 
support effective scrutiny 

(c) Explore development of a 
Scrutiny Strategy on a 
Page for Scrutiny and 
self-evaluation with 
scrutiny members 

Ongoing (start 
date: April 2020  
 
During the 
2020/2021 
municipal year 
 
 
During the 
2020/2021 
municipal year 
 
 
 
 
 

 Performance & 
Scrutiny Team; and 

 Democratic Services 
Team 

 Head of Corporate 
Services 

 Elected Members 

 Officer time (P+S, Democratic 
Services etc.) 

 Input from WLGA (training) 
 

Lack of buy in from Elected 
Members 
To tackle this: 
Political Leaders to re-enforce 
the need for Member 
engagement to support 
improvement 
 
Lack of capacity to co-
ordinate training 
opportunities 
To tackle this: 
Explore opportunities to plan 
meetings to ensure maximum 
benefit to staff and Members 

Practical Guide for 
Scrutiny Members 
 

Training Needs 
Assessment for Elected 
Members 
 

Co-opted Member 
Training Presentation 
 

Governance Improvement 
Plan  
 

Powerpoint presentation 
to support co-opted 
member training 
 
 

 

 

PROPOSALS FOR IMPROVEMENT 

P1  The Council needs to assure itself that it can deliver its statutory environmental health services.  

P2      The Council needs put better mechanism in place to review the delivery of its statutory environmental health services 

P
age 9

http://mtcbcelecreg.merthyr.gov.uk:9070/documents/s47195/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
http://mtcbcelecreg.merthyr.gov.uk:9070/documents/s47195/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4710/focus-on-the-future-april-2019.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4710/focus-on-the-future-april-2019.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4710/focus-on-the-future-april-2019.pdf


 

WAO Recommendation  Response Action/Step 
(What needs to be done?) 

Deadline 
(When does it need 
to be done by?) 

Responsible and 
Accountable Person(s) 
(who will lead on 
progressing the action 
and who will 
contribute) 

Necessary Resources  
(What do you need in order to 
complete this action/step?) 

Potential Challenges/Barriers 
(what could impede 
completion?  How will you 
overcome this) 

Evidence 

R3 Improve engagement with local residents over planned 
budget cuts and changes in services by: 

 consulting with residents on planned changes in 
services;   

 using the findings to shape decisions;  

 outlining which services are to be cut and how these 
cuts will impact on residents; and  

 setting out plans for increasing charges or changing 
standards of service 

 

 Public consultation 
exercises (e.g.) Air 
Quality Management 
Area Action Plan; the 
Toilet Strategy etc. 

 Involvement with 
Corporate Services in the 
planning of required 
efficiency savings (e.g. 
development of business 
cases for efficiencies) 

 Corporate relevant policy 
changes (e.g.) increase to 
changes at the rate of 
inflation for non-
statutory charges 

 Review current standards 
of service and identify 
changes to accelerate the 
pace of progress made 
against the corporate 
priorities and outcomes 

Consultation 
exercise undertaken 
March-June 2018  
September 2018-
March 2019 
 
Annually 
 
 
April 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Annually by year end 

 Env. Health 
Manager 

 Chief Officer 

 Senior Leadership 
Team 

 Elected Members 

 Corporate 
Communications 

 Finance & 
Accountancy 

 Interim Chief Executive 

 Chief Finance Officer 

 Head of Corporate Services 

 Chief Officers 

 Corporate Management Team 

 Senior Leadership Team 

Uncertainty regarding future 
funding, resources etc. 
To tackle this: 
Ensure updates from Welsh 
Government, key partners, 
funders etc. are brought back 
to Corporate Management 
Team, Cabinet and Full 
Council to the right ensure 
decisions taken with suitable 
information. 

Air Quality Management 
Consultation & Action  
Plan 
Toilet Strategy 
 

Research & consultation 
on Food Hygiene Rating 
Scheme. 

R4 Improve efficiency and value for money by: 

 agreeing environmental health priorities for the future 
and the role of councils in delivering these; 

 determining an ‘acceptable standard of performance’ 
for environmental health services (upper and lower) 
and publicise these to citizens 

 Improving efficiency and maintaining performance to 
the agreed level through:  
- collaborating and/or integrating with others to 

reduce cost and/or improve quality;  
- outsourcing where services can be delivered more 

cost effectively to agreed standards;  
- introducing and/or increasing charges and focusing 

on income generation activity;  
- using grants strategically to maximise impact and 

return; and  
- reducing activities to focus on core statutory and 

strategic priorities. 

 Work with Corporate 
Chief Officers to discuss 
and identify corporate 
priorities to inform the 
Corporate Wellbeing Plan 
and Annual Performance 
Report  

 Work with Env. Health 
team to identify team 
priorities (annual focus 
on team performance) 

 Work with Corporate 
Communications to 
promote regular items 

 Map out current 
collaborative working via 
corporate self-evaluation  

 Take part in the 
corporate Capacity 
Review exercise 

  

Annually by March  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Annually 
 
 
 
April 2020 
 
 
December 2020 
 
 
November 2020 
 
 
 

 Env. Health 
Manager  

 Corporate 
Management Team 

 Senior Leadership 
Team 

 Head of Corporate 
Services 

 Performance & 
Scrutiny Team 

 Corporate 
Communications 

 Finance & 
Accountancy service 

 Officer time (local) 

 District Officer time (regional 
critical friend) 

 National intelligence linked to 
Food Standards Agency, Health 
and Safety Executive, Public 
Health Wales 

 Regional and Local intelligence 

Statutory functions are at a 
bare minimum and response 
activity can vary depending 
on staff capacity 
To tackle this: 
Identify and explore 
additional funding to support 
delivery of statutory functions 
 
There’s a risk that when 
outsourcing, the organisation 
securing the tender may have 
a lack of knowledge and 
understanding of the local 
area, local sensitivities, lack of 
ownership, etc. 
To tackle this: 
Ensure questions are 
designed to explore the scope 
and scale of approach in the 
tender/commissioning 
process 

Corporate self-evaluation  
 

Communications 6-
monthly action plan 
 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our 
communities 
 
Findings of the 
organisational capacity 
review exercise 
 
Intelligence updates (local, 
regional, national) 
 

  

P
age 10

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4710/focus-on-the-future-april-2019.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4710/focus-on-the-future-april-2019.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4710/focus-on-the-future-april-2019.pdf


WAO Recommendation  Response Action/Step 
(What needs to be done?) 

Deadline 
(When does it need 
to be done by?) 

Responsible and 
Accountable Person(s) 
(who will lead on 
progressing the action 
and who will 
contribute) 

Necessary Resources  
(What do you need in order to 
complete this action/step?) 

Potential Challenges 
(what could impede 
completion?  How will you 
overcome this) 

Evidence 

R4   Explore opportunities for 
further collaboration to 
secure additional 
funding/maximise 
existing grants and 
funding (e.g.) currently 
exploring Primary 
Authority Partnership 
with Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg UHB; 
removal of untaxed 
vehicles in partnership 
with DVLA etc. 

 Explore opportunities to 
outsource the Air Quality 
Progress Report 

 Explore collaborative 
working opportunities 
with other local 
authorities 

 Work with Elected 
Members to manage 
expectations  

April 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
September 2020 
 
 
April 2021 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 

As above As above As above As above 

R5 Improve strategic planning by:  

 identifying, collecting and analysing financial, 
performance and demand/need data on 
environmental health services;  

 analysing collected data to inform and understand the 
relationship between ‘cost: benefit: impact’ and use 
this intelligence to underpin decisions on the future of 
council environmental health services; and  

 agree how digital information can be used to plan and 
develop environmental health services in the future 

 Review clerical and 
administrative processes 
to ensure they are fit for 
purpose 

 Continue regular finance 
meetings with 
Accountancy officers 

 Continue to utilise 
intelligence gathering 
activity (e.g.) Rent Smart 
Wales, Food Standards 
Agency, Health and 
Safety Executive, 
National and regional 
Expert Groups ,   
regional/national 
sampling programmes to 
provide direction for 
future sampling to 
identify emerging 
priorities. 

 Explore use of a social 
value tool to identify 
cost/benefit/impact of 
services 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
Monthly 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 

 Env. Health 
Manager 

 Chief Officer/ 
Corporate 
Management Team 

 Senior Leadership 
Team 

 Head of Corporate 
Services 

 Performance & 
Scrutiny Team 

 Finance & 
Accountancy 
 

 Officer time (local) 

 District Officer time (regional 
critical friend) 

 National intelligence 

 Local intelligence 
 

Where we effectively manage 
the budget, there are 
occasions where there are 
underspends can accrue.  
However, on occasion this 
money has been drawn in to 
cover overspends in other 
areas of the Council 
To tackle this: 
Identify and explore 
additional funding to support 
delivery of statutory functions 
and continue with regular 
monthly meetings with the 
Accountant 
 

Strategies on a Page 
 

PAMS 
 

LAE1 
LAEMS 
AFON 
 

Evidence arising from 
national and regional 
strategic assessments. 

 

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Work Programme 2019/20  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Work Programme and approves, revises or 
amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in planning 
for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 6th March 2020 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 17th March 2020 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 14



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department; 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue; 

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review; 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 

Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 

Page 15



c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
Member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

Page 16



f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 
calls for evidence). 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 

 

APPENDIX I 

Page 18



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 
 

 
  

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

4th June 2019 

Draft Committee Work 

Programme 2018/19 

 

Cllr Julian Amos (Chair) and 

Scrutiny Committee 

Members 

The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and make any required adjustments 

to this in order to agree its content and sign off the Work Programme for 2019-2020. 

Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Councillor Geraint Thomas/ 
Alyn Owen / Chris :Long/ 
Zoe Thomas 

Scrutiny and Challenge: -  Following the update report received by the Committee in July 
2018; a subsequent report has been requested on recent developments linked to the 
Cyfarthfa Heritage Area.  The report should contain details on the governance activities 
supporting delivery of this activity for the Committee to scrutinise.  It should also 
demonstrate how the area will feature as part of the Design Council for Wales’ Crucible 
Report. 
 

16th July 2019 

Refocus of the CCTV service 
area 

Councillor Geraint Thomas/ 
Alyn Owen / Paul Lewis / 
Ryan Evans 

Scrutiny and Challenge:-  Following the management of the CCTV service being transferred 
to the Community Safety and Regulatory Compliance Manager’s service area; Committee 
Members would like a report outlining any proposed changes to the way in which the CCTV 
will work.  The Committee also expects some detail on how the Council plans to use the 
system to generate intelligence that will strengthen the Council’s performance not only in 
community safety-related work but also in the broader sense. 
 

Anti-social Behaviour Councillor Geraint Thomas/ 
Alyn Owen / Paul Lewis / 
Ryan Evans 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee requests officers bring forward a report which will 
offer them an overview of the current status in relation to anti-social behaviour and its 
impact on residents of and visitors to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough.  The report should 
contain the latest available data  on a local and national level in relation to this topic.  
Members would welcome an update on the current funding situation re: this; as well as an 
overview of partnership arrangements supporting delivery of activity addressing this issue. 

Work Programme Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are 
available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

P
age 19



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 
Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

10th September 
2019 

Self-Evaluation Findings: 
Question 1: Outcomes 
 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long  / Paul 
Lewis 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation process 
supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify and 
set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s response to the 
first of the key questions which is linked to Outcomes.  They will be required to scrutinise 
the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant supporting 
evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   
 

Destination Development Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long  / Ryan 
Barry 

Scrutiny and Challenge:   The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on the progress 
made linked to the work undertaken by the Council linked to ongoing Destination 
Development activity.  The Committee will scrutinise the report to identify progress made 
to date; explore the impact of these activities on the ecomony; and the opportunities 
these activities make on jobs/careers and training and skills development  

Committee Work 

Programme 2019/2020 

 

Cllr Julian Amos (Chair) and 

Scrutiny Committee 

Members 

The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and make any required adjustments 

to this in order to agree its content and sign off the Work Programme for 2019-2020. 

 

22nd October 
2019 

Findings of WAO 
examination visit 2018-19 

WAO officers/Councillor 

Geraint Thomas/Alyn 

Owen/Chris Long/Andrew 

Mogford 

Scrutiny and Challenge:   Following an examination visit made by Welsh Audit Office (WAO) 

to review the Working Life theme with a particular focus on the component ‘Making Skills 

work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the future’; officer from WAO will 

present key findings noted during the examination visit directly to Committee Members 

Cwm Taf Youth Offending 
Service (YOS) 

Councillor Geraint Thomas/ 
Alyn Owen/ Paul Lewis / 
Lyndon Lewis (Cwm Taf 
YOS) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:   Following an update received by the Committee in April 2019; 
members requested a report be received detailing the work being undertaken by the Youth 
Offending Service within Merthyr Tydfil.   The Committee expects most up-to-date data to 
be included; and that this information is put into the context of the key interventions being 
delivered by Cwm Taf YOS; and the impact of these. 
 

Substance Misuse Councillor Geraint Thomas/ 
Alyn Owen/Paul Lewis / Ceri 

Ford (RCT CBC) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Following an update received by the Committee in April 2019; 
members requested a report be received focusing on the specific situation in relation to 
Merthyr Tydfil regarding substance misuse.  The Committee expects the most up-to-date 
information for the County Borough to be included; and that this information covers the use 
of both alcohol and illegal substances.  The report should also offer an outline of the key 
interventions being delivered and the impact of these. 
 

P
age 20



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

3rd December 
2019 

 
MEETING 

CANCELLED 

Cwm Taf Youth Offending 
Service (YOS) 

Paul Lewis / Lyndon Lewis 
(Cwm Taf YOS) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:   Following an update received by the Committee in April 2019; 
members requested a report be received detailing the work being undertaken by the Youth 
Offending Service within Merthyr Tydfil.   The Committee expects most up-to-date data to 
be included; and that this information is put into the context of the key interventions being 
delivered by Cwm Taf YOS; and the impact of these. 

Homelessness Strategy Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen/ Suzanne Lewis-
Abbott  

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Following approval of the Council’s Homelessness Strategy by Full 
Council on 17th December 2018, the Committee has requested a report be brought back to 
identify what impact had been noted as a result of the strategy being rolled out.  The 
Committee expects any relevant performance data to be included in the report; along with 
any details of issues/barriers experienced and how these have been overcome. 

Work Programme Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are 
available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 

14th January 
2020 

Self-Evaluation Findings: 
Question 2: Provision and 
Service Delivery 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long  / Paul 
Lewis 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation process 
supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify and 
set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s response to the 
second key question which is linked to Service Delivery.  They will be required to scrutinise 
the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant supporting 
evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   

Homelessness Strategy Cllr Geraint Thomas / Chris 
Long / Suzanne Lewis-
Abbott / Cerys Clark  

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Following approval of the Council’s Homelessness Strategy by Full 
Council on 17th December 2018, the Committee has requested a report be brought back to 
identify what impact had been noted as a result of the strategy being rolled out.  The 
Committee expects any relevant performance data to be included in the report; along with 
any details of issues/barriers experienced and how these have been overcome. 

Work Programme Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are 
available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

P
age 21



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

3rd March 2020 

Self-Evaluation Findings: 
Question 3: Leadership and 
Management 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long  / Paul 
Lewis 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation process 
supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify and 
set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s response to the 
last of the key questions which is linked to Leadership and Management.  They will be 
required to scrutinise the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with 
relevant supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   
 

Continued Development of 
the Town Centre and the 
Night-time Economy 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long / Paul 
Lewis 

Scrutiny and Challenge: -  Following an report received by Members in August 2019; the 
Committee requires a further report to be presented outlining the developments linked to 
the development of the Town Centre; and the Night-time Economy.  The report should 
contain status updates in relation to the ‘next steps’ identified when the topic was 
previously brought to scrutiny: 
 The status of the Merthyr After Dark strategy and the practical implications of delivering this on 

communities; 

 The status and membership of the Evening Economy Board; and the Board’s key priorities; and 

 What specifically the Council’s Regeneration and Public Protection Teams will be contributing to 
delivery of the strategy 

Town Centre Master Plan 
 
 
 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long / Paul 
Lewis 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - Members have requested a report be brought before the 
Committee to outline the key elements of the latest iteration of the Town Centre Master 
Plan.  Updates on key activities such as the Building Enhancement Scheme; developments 
linked to transport infrastructure should be included in the report. 

Work Programme Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are 
available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 

28th April 2020 
 
 
 
 

Third sector funding and 
support 

To be confirmed Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee acknowledged Governance committee are 
undertaking a piece of work around this issue.  However, Members of the Regeneration and 
Public Protection Committee Members wish to review and discuss the contribution third 
sector organisations make to the activities which are brought before them on a regular 
basis.  Discussions will focus on how funding cuts experienced over time have impacted on 
working arrangements; the level of services and activities being delivered generally and, in 
particular, how third sector funding and support has been impacted in relation to 
regeneration, cultural and public protection activities.  

P
age 22



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 

 

 
Additional Topics for Review 

 

To be discussed Hoover Master Plan 
 
 

Public awareness around the proposed development of the Hoover site is growing and people are keen to find 
out more about what is being discussed, what impact any development would have on the people living in the 
areas around the Hoover site as well as to find out what role the Council will play in this.   

To be discussed Merthyr Tydfil’s Hidden 
History 

During a number of scrutiny sessions during 2018-19; Merthyr Tydfil’s Hidden History had been identified as an 
possible area of interest by the Committee Chair.  

To be discussed Violent Crime: Sexual 
Violence 

The Committee has requested a report on this topic, which would include both local and national data on sexual 
violence.  The report should outline the impact of sexual violence on citizens (i.e.) STIs; pregnancies; impact on 
mental health and offer basic detail on the support structure available for victims both at the time incidents 
occur and in the longer-term. 

To be discussed Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust The Committee seek an update on the activities being delivered by Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust with a specific 
focus on how these activities compliment or impact upon the services delivered by MTCBC. 

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

28th April 2020 

Substance Misuse Councillor Geraint Thomas/ 
Paul Lewis / Ceri Ford (RCT 
CBC) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Following a verbal update received by the Committee in October 
2019; members requested a written report be received focusing on the specific situation in 
relation to Merthyr Tydfil regarding substance misuse.  The Committee requests up-to-date 
information to be included; and that this information covers the use of both alcohol and 
illegal substances.  The report should also offer an outline of the key interventions being 
delivered and the impact of these. 
 

Work Programme Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are 
available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 WAO Report: Delivering with Less, Environmental Health Services Follow up - Review and Draft Response Action Plan
	Appendix 1

	4 Work Programme 2019/20
	Appendix 1


